1960

James R. Henry v. Washiki Club, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from an Order of the District Court of Weber County granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. In the Memorandum filed by Defendant at the time the Motion was heard, Defendant contended:

1. That under the facts and circumstances of the case there was no duty on the part of the Defendant to Plaintiff, and therefore Defendant was not guilty of any negligence.

2. That Plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence and assumption of risk as a matter of law.

The facts of the case are as follows:

The Plaintiff is an industrial tool designer (Jim Henry Deposition Page 11), who at the time of sustaining his injuries was employed in Ogden, Utah, for Tool Research Company in this capacity (Jim Henry Dep. 2 and 11). On April 24, 1959, the Plaintiff worked his regular shift which ended at about 5:00 p. m. (Jim Henry Dep. P 18); he left work and arrived home at about 6:00 P.M. (Jim Henry Dep. P 18). He and his wife had previously made arrangements to go to dinner with two other men who were employed in a similar capacity by his employer (Jim Henry Dep. P 18). Plaintiff, upon arriving home, changed clothes; thereafter he went to the State Liquor Store where he purchased a pint of whiskey and then returned home (Jim Henry Dep. P 18). About 7:30 P.M., Mr. Phipps, (Jack Phipps Dep. P 3), a fellow employee, arrived at Plaintiff's residence; and Plaintiff, his wife, and Mr. Phipps went to the Combo (Kitty Henry Dep. P 4), where they met a Mr. Redman (Jack Phipps Dep. P 4), also a fellow employee (Kitty Henry Dep P 4). While at the Combo, Plaintiff had one mixed drink which he estimated contained about one ounce of whiskey (Kitty Henry Dep. P 5, Jim Henry Dep. P 20-21, Jack Phipps Dep. P 4). The four people then went to Mr. Phipps' apartment while Mr. Phipps changed clothes (Kitty Henry Dep. P 21); the group then went to Graycliff Lodge in Ogden Canyon, Utah, for dinner, arriving at about 9:30 P.M. (Kitty Henry Dep. P 7, Jim Henry Dep. P 22). While they were waiting to be served, Plaintiff had one mixed drink (Jack Phipps Dep. P 7, Kitty Henry Dep. P 7, Jim Henry Dep. P 23). At Grey-cliff Lodge, Plaintiff had a large steak dinner (Jack

Phipps Deposition P 6-8), after which the group proceeded to the Combo, arriving there shortly before 12 midnight (Kitty Henry Dep. P 10 and 12, Jim Henry Dep. P 24). Plaintiff and his friends were at the Combo until 12:45 A.M. (Jim Henry Dep. P 27), and during that time he had two mixed drinks (Jim Henry Dep. P 22).. The group then walked from the Combo to the Washiki Club located in the basement of the Ogden Hotel (Kitty Henry Dep. P 14, Jim Henry Dep. P 27). On arriving at the Washiki Club, each person paid \$1.00 for a so-called membership card, valid for that particular evening only (Jim Henry Dep. P 28). While at the Washiki Club, Plaintiff had one or possibly two mixed drinks (Kitty Henry Dep. P 15 and 16, Jim Henry Dep. P 22). Between 1:30 to 1:45 A.M., Plaintiff and his wife made the suggestion that they go home, and Plaintiff stated that he wanted to go to the restroom before leaving (Kitty Henry Dep. P 16 and 17, Jim Henry Dep. P 32 and 33). The description of the physical layout of the Washiki is necessary for an understanding of the events that followed. The bar in the club is located in the Northeast corner of a large room containing tables and a small dance floor. Over the bar the ceiling is lowered to give a canopy like effect. Directly to the North of the bar are located the Men's and Ladies' rest rooms. There is a small neon sign designating these rest rooms, but this sign is obscured by the canopy over the bar from the view of persons sitting at most of the tables in the larger room. It is impossible to see the rest room signs from the tables near the rear of the room (McKinley Dep. P 6 and 12). Plaintiff and his wife were seated at tables near the

rear, or the south side of the room (Jim Henry Dep. P 29 and 30). On the south wall of the room is a neon sign which says "DINING ROOM OPEN". On the night in question, this sign was not lighted (McKinley Dep. P 6). The lighting in the main room was very dim (Jim Henry Dep. P 33, Affidavit McKinley P 7 and 8). Underneath the "DINING ROOM" sign were two swinging doors (McKinley Dep. P 12) leading into a room, now used as a store room, which room had previously been used as a kitchen (McKinley Dep. P 6). This room was lighted by a single globe of about 25 watts intensity, (McKinley Dep. P 7 and 8) located in the most easterly end of the room. In this store room was a stack of beer and soda water cases, a large galvanized sink that ran part way across the room which served as sort of a partition dividing the room into two parts, a service entrance opening to the alley, and a door leading to a sump pump located down a flight of concrete steps (McKinley Dep. P 9).

Plaintiff had been to the Washiki Club on one previous occasion about six months previous to the night in question (Kitty Henry Dep. P 14, Jim Henry Dep. P 28). He testified that he had no recollection of using the rest room at that time (Jim Henry Dep. P 32).

Plaintiff got up from his table and walked toward the double doors at the back of the room, assuming that these doors led to the restroom (Jim Henry Dep. P 33). Plaintiff passed through the doors; he then walked through a passageway in the store room and made a turn, and this was the last he remembered until

he recalled crawling up a stairway (Jim Henry Dep. P 34). In the fall down the stairs, the Plaintiff received a severely cominuted fracture of the right wrist (Kitty Henry Dep. P 22, Doctor's statement,) together with bruises and contusions. The fracture of the right wrist has resulted in a permanent disability for Plaintiff. His work consisted of doing highly technical detailed engineering drawings related to specialized machine tool design. As a result of the injuries he sustained in this fall, it is now impossible for him to draw at all (Jim Henry Dep. P 48).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE ISSUE OF DEFENDANT'S NEGLIGENCE WAS ONE OF FACT THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUBMITTED TO THE JURY, AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUBMIT THE ISSUE OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF THE PLAINTIFF TO A JURY, AND IN ITS GRANTING OF DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

POINT III

PLAINTIFF'S STATUS AS TO WHETHER HE WAS AN INVITEE OR LICENSEE WAS A QUESTION OF FACT FOR THE JURY, AND THE TRIAL

COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE DEFENDANT.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THAT THE FACTS BEFORE THE COURT PRESENTED TRIABLE ISSUES.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE ISSUE OF DEFENDANT'S NEGLIGENCE WAS ONE OF FACT THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUBMITTED TO THE JURY, AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Upon a motion by the defendant for Summary Judgment, the evidence of the plaintiff should be taken as true, and all reasonable inferences and presumptions indulged which tend to support the position of the plaintiff. The question must be submitted to the jury if the facts are such that reasonable minds might reach different conclusions thereon.

Plaintiff bases his claim of negligence on the part of the defendant on the following: Defendant knew that prior to plaintiff's injury that other persons had mistakenly assumed that the doors leading to the kitchen and to the stairway, where plaintiff was injured,

were doors leading to restrooms (McKinley Dep. P 7, 8). Despite the fact that defendant had actual knowledge of the likelihood that a patron would assume that the doors through which plaintiff passed led to restrooms, defendant took no action to lock the doors; to bar the particular door leading to the cellar; or to post a notice of warning of any kind on the doors until after plaintiff's injury (McKinley Dep. P 7).

Is it not reasonable to assume that the exercise of due care on the part of the defendant would require the defendant, who had actual knowledge of the fact that customers were prone to assume that the door in question led to restrooms, to at least post a sign stating "EMPLOYEES ONLY", "KEEP OUT", "NO ADMITTANCE", "DO NOT ENTER", or "PRIVATE", or any words that would give a patron an indication that the doors did not lead to a portion of the premises which a patron might normally be expected to have access to?

The law is well settled that when an owner or occupier of business premises has reason to apprehend danger to a patron from a particular situation on the premises, and that there is a possibility of injury to the patron from such situation, then in such event, the question as to whether or not the occupier had violated his duty toward the patron becomes a question of fact for a jury to be determined upon the evidence.

In the case of *Campbell vs. Weathers*, 111 P 2d 72, 77, 78, the Supreme Court of Kansas quoted the following language from *Bass vs. Hunt*, 100 P 2d 696, with approval:

"It is the duty of a restaurant keeper to

keep in a reasonably safe condition the portions of his establishment where his guests may be expected to come and go, including a necessary water closet and a passage thereto, and it cannot be said that as a matter of law that there was no actionable negligence in his failure to sufficiently light the passageway or to warn a guest of an unlighted stairway covered by a trap door which was not closed. * * * Appellant had the right to assume if the hallway was not in a reasonably safe condition warnings signs would be erected to appraise him of lurking danger, or that he would have been otherwise notified concerning it."

Section 343-d, The *Restatement of Torts* sets forth the duty owed a business visitor:

"WHAT BUSINESS VISITOR ENTITLED TO EXPECT: A business visitor is entitled to expect that the possessor will take reasonable care to ascertain the actual condition of the premises and, having discovered it, either to make it reasonably safe by repair or to give warning of the actual condition and the risk involved therein."

Section 343-b of the *Restatement of Torts* deals with the law in regard to a business visitor's use of the wrong door while on the business premises.

"If the possessor has intentionally or negligently misled the visitor into reasonable belief that a particular passageway or door is an appropriate means of reaching the business area the visitor is entitled to the protection of a business visitor while using this passageway or door."

It is certainly reasonable to assume that rest rooms

for patrons are part of the business area of a night club. Plaintiff contends that an examination of all of the facts and circumstances of his injury clearly indicates that he was misled in his search for a restroom by the negligence of the defendant.

The question of how far the business area extends, and the question of reasonable action on the part of a business visitor were before the Utah Supreme Court in the case of *Martin vs. Jones*, 253 P 2d, 359 (Utah 1953). In this case, the plaintiff entered Defendant's drugstore to make some purchases. Except for the bottled liquor counter, prescription counter, and soda fountain, customers were allowed to pick up and handle merchandise in the store without the assistance of the clerks. Plaintiff's evidence showed that he purchased razor blades and tablets for which he had paid; he asked for an automatic pencil and was told by the clerk that they were displayed on a shelf by the liquor counter. Plaintiff then proceeded to the rear of the store. He stated that he observed no signs barring his admittance, and that he saw nothing unusual about the floor by the counter, although the floor was shadowy. As he reached up on tip-toe to remove a display card from the shelf about seven feet above the floor, he took a step sideways on what appeared to him to be the floor and suddenly fell down a dumb-waiter shaft into the basement eight or ten feet below. Defendant's employees testified that when the clerks waited on plaintiff, he said nothing about wanting a pencil, and the clerks went on serving other customers. One clerk testified that when she next observed appellant, he was standing behind the liquor counter with a display card of pencils

in his hand. She went over to him and asked if she could serve him. He removed a pencil from the card and turned to place the card on the shelf; and in doing so fell down the shaft. The clerk said she did not tell him that he was not allowed behind the liquor counter. She also said that the lighting in the store made the open shaft visible, and she thus assumed plaintiff could see it, so she did not warn him of the danger. Defendant was able to prove that at the entrance to the rear of the counter was posted the sign "No Admittance - Employees Only". The case went to a jury, and the jury returned a verdict No cause of Action. Plaintiff appealed and the Court reversed on the ground of error in the instructions. The Supreme Court in reversing the judgment and ordering a new trial held at page 362:

"A jury could find that Mrs. Cannon (defendant's clerk) had reason to believe that the Appellant did not have notice of and would not discover a hazard on the floor behind the counter. Assuming that she thought that he read the 'No Admittance' sign as he made his way behind the counter, she could be charged with the realization that he had no reason to believe that his admittance was barred because of hazards lurking, but because the management did not want liquor bottles tampered with, being under bond to the State for their strict account. That there should be an open hole behind a counter in a modern store where clerks walk seems certainly extraordinary, raising a jury question as to whether the respondent's employees had reason to believe that a customer who was unfamiliar with that part of the store and who had his at-

tention focused on a display card seven feet above the floor would not see an open hole in the floor.”

It is respectfully submitted that there was ample evidence on the question of negligence on the part of the defendant to require the court to submit that issue to a jury for determination, and that the trial court erred in granting defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUBMIT THE ISSUE OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF THE PLAINTIFF TO A JURY, AND IN ITS GRANTING OF DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Defendant has contended that Plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law. This contention is apparently based upon the claim that there was nothing which particularly indicated to Plaintiff that the doors through which he passed led to restrooms. This contention of the Defendant ignores the testimony of McKinley, the operator of Defendant’s premises (McKinley Dep. P. 8), as well as the testimony of two of Defendant’s employees, Nixon, the head awiter, and Lemmon, a waiter (Nixon Dep. P. 10, 11; Lemmon Dep. P. 4, 5), all to the effect that other persons have made the same assumption that plaintiff made regarding where the doors in question led. The cited portions of the depositions indicate clearly that despite defendant’s knowledge of the erroneous assumptions frequently made by its patrons concerning the location of the restrooms, that Defendant still did nothing to provide any form

of warning to its patrons. The additional fact that Defendant's manager knew that from the place where Plaintiff was sitting it would be impossible for him to see the sign which indicated the location of the restrooms must also be considered (McKinley Dep. P 6). The reasonableness of plaintiff's action in seeking a restroom should also be regarded in the light of the actions of Carl Gillis as shown by his Affidavit. Gillis sought a restroom in the identical manner in which Plaintiff sought one, at a time shortly after Plaintiff passed through the doors in question.

Plaintiff's position in regard to contributory negligence is well stated in the case of *Martin vs. Fox West Coast Theater Corportion*, 108 P 2d 29, which states as follows at page 32:

“Where different conclusions may be reasonably drawn by different minds from the same evidence the decision must be left to the triers of the fact, and in the instant case it is clear to us that whether the situation in which he (plaintiff) found himself was such as to impress upon the mind of the (plaintiff) the danger incident to going around the front end of a parked automobile was for the jury to decide as an issue of fact. The question of contributory negligence is always one of fact for the jury to decide under proper instructions, except in those cases in which, judged in the light of common knowledge and experience, there is a standard of prudence to which all persons similarly situated must conform. It is only in these last named cases that failure to adhere to that common standard is as matter of law of contributory negligence.”

The Utah case of *Moore vs. Miles*, 158 P 2d 676 (Utah), deals with a fact situation not dissimilar to the one now before the Court. In the Miles case the Plaintiff was a guest at Defendant's hotel, and she left her room to go to her car in the parking lot maintained by the hotel to the west of the building. Extending east and west across the building on the same floor as Plaintiff's room was a hallway, the east end of which turned down into the lobby by an "L" stairway. At the end of the hallway was a short flight of steps leading directly to the door leading to the parking lot. Plaintiff fell down these steps and sustained a fractured arm. The Plaintiff recovered judgment. Defendant appealed on the contention:

a. That there was not sufficient evidence to take the case to the jury.

b. Plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law.

As to the matter of evidence sufficient to take the case to the jury, the Court held that under the laws of the State of Utah, the defendant had a duty of keeping the hallways of the hotel properly lighted, and that since there was evidence of failure to keep them properly lighted, the question of the Defendant's negligence was one for the jury to determine.

On point b., the defendant contended that the testimony showed that the west end of the hall was so dark that plaintiff could not see the stairs; that plaintiff was walking slowly feeling ahead with her foot; that she lost her balance and fell down the short flight of steps to the doorway; and that this action on her part

made her guilty of of contributory negligence as a matter of law. Defendant further argued that since Plaintiff had a choice of going down the stairway to the lobby which was a well lighted passageway, or going down the west stairway which was dark, that she was negligent as a matter of law because she chose the route which proved to be unsafe. In answering the question of contributory negligence the court said at page 677:

“The next question for consideration is whether Plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law in proceeding down the darkened hallway knowing that the stairway was at the end thereof. *In this jurisdiction we are committed to the doctrine that the question of contributory negligence is one for the jury, different conclusions may be reasonably drawn by different minds from the same evidence.*” (emphasis ours)

The court further said at page 678:

“In view of the foregoing authorities and the long established rule in this jurisdiction, that contributory negligence is a question for a jury, we hold that the issue of contributory negligence was properly submitted to the jury by the trial court.”

The case of *Flanigan vs. Madison Plaza Grill, Inc.* 30 Atlantic 2d 38, dealt with a mistake of the Plaintiff in regard to the door which led to the restroom. The facts in this case are as follows: The Plaintiff who was previously unfamiliar with defendant's restaurant entered between 9 and 10 P.M.; she left her companions in a booth and proceeded down a dimly lighted corridor

which a sign indicated as the way to the restroom and telephones. She noted a sign over a door indicating that it was the men's room; adjacent thereto was another door which was slightly ajar through which a light showed, and which was marked "Private"; but plaintiff testified she did not notice the sign marked "Private". Plaintiff stepped through this door and fell down the cellar steps, and in the fall she was injured.

The Court held that the question as to whether she used reasonable care was one of fact. The court stated at page 39:

"The location and construction of these rooms off the corridor, which were such that it was not an unreasonable assumption on the part of the plaintiff, entering the premises for the first time that the door which she opened was intended for ladies in view of the circumstances that she did not observe the sign 'Private' on this door when she opened it".

The Court further held that if she mistakenly thought she was entering the ladies' room, it could not be assumed that she expected to find a staircase there.

"She had no duty to make constant observation or to proceed with more than reasonable care, and that whether or not she proceeded with reasonable care was a question of fact for the Jury."

A Motion for a directed verdict was properly refused because the court held the evidence showed that Plaintiff had not exceeded her invitation, and that she was not guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law. The court further held that contributory negli-

gence does not automatically follow because the accident might have been avoided. The reasonableness of her action under the circumstances was held to be a question of fact for the jury.

In the case of *Hall et ux. vs. Boise Payette Lumber*, 125 P 2d 311, the Supreme Court of the State of Idaho stated as follows on a matter closely allied to the matters before the court in the instant case, quoting at page 313:

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