1960

James R. Henry v. Washiki Club, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFF WAS AT BEST A LICENSEE AT THE PLACE WHERE THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED AND THEREFORE THE DEFENDANT OWED HIM NO DUTY TO MAKE THE PREMISES SAFE, AND WAS NOT GUILTY OF ANY NEGLIGENCE OR BREACH OF DUTY TOWARD HIM.

We here answer plaintiff's Points I and III. It is conceded that plaintiff entered upon defendant's premises as an invitee. However, it is well settled that a business invitee as to one portion of a land-owner's premises may be but a mere licensee or even a trespasser as to another portion of the premises. It is equally well settled that the duty to exercise care for the safety of an invitee extends only to that portion of the premises to which the invitation extends. The general rule is well stated in 38 Am. Jur. 761, Negligence, Sec. 100, which reads as follows:

“An owner or occupant is liable for an injury sustained by a person, who entered the premises by invitation as a result of a defective condition of the premises only where the part of the premises upon which the injury was sustained was covered by the invitation. If a person, although on the premises by invitation, goes to a place not covered by the invitation, the owner's duty of care owed to such a person as an invitee ceases forthwith. Thus, where one enters a part of the premises reserved for the use of the occupant and his employees, and to which there was no express or implied invitation to go, there can be no recovery for resulting injury, even though he is an invitee to other parts of the premises. This does not mean that the duty of an owner to have his premises in such condition that an invitation to visit him may be accepted without danger of personal injury from a defective condition is limited necessarily to any specific portion of the premises; but it is limited to parts that reasonably appear to have been designed, adapted and prepared for the accommodation of such a person and to those

parts to which the invitee reasonably may be expected to go, in view of the invitation given him.”

See also A.L.I., Restatement of Torts, Sec. 343, Comment *b*:

“Under the rule stated in this Section, a possessor of land is subject to liability to another as a business visitor only for such bodily harm as he sustains while upon a part of the land upon which the possessor gives the other reason to believe that his presence is permitted or desired because of its connection with the business or affairs of the possessor and which as such is held open to the other as a business visitor.”

See also Sec. 341, Comment *b*.

In Prosser on Torts, 2d Edition, page 458, the author says:

“The special obligation toward invitees exists only while the visitor is upon the part of the premises which the occupier has thrown open to him for the purpose which makes him an invitee. This ‘area of invitation’ will of course vary with the circumstances of the case. * * * If the customer is invited or encouraged to go to an unusual part of the premises, such as behind a counter or into a storeroom, for the purpose which has brought him, he remains an invitee; *but if he goes without such encouragement and solely on his own initiative*, he is only a licensee if there is consent, or a trespasser if there is not.” (Emphasis ours.)

The rule has been recognized by this court and the passage above quoted from Am. Jur. was cited with approval in the case of *Hayward vs. Downing*, (Utah), 189 Pac. 2d 442. This court also quoted with approval from 38 Am. Jur. 794, Negligence, Sec. 133 as follows:

“The duty of the proprietor of a place of business which is open to public patronage to use ordinary care to make the premises safe for customers is generally limited to that part of the premises designed, adapted and prepared for the accommodation of customers, *or to which customers may reasonably be expected to go.*”

See also *Thompson vs. Beard and Gabelman, Inc.*, (Kan.), 216 Pac. 2d 798, where the court said at p. 800:

“The duty of the proprietor of a place of business which is open to public patronage to use ordinary care to make the premises reasonably safe for customers is *generally limited to that part of the premises designed, adapted, and prepared for the accommodation of customers, or to which customers may reasonably be expected to go.* The duty of the proprietor of a place of business to his customers does not require him to render safe for their use parts of the building reserved for use only by him and his employees, such as private offices, shipping rooms, and warehouses, unless he expressly or impliedly invites or induces a customer to enter such a reserved part. (38 Am. Jur. 794, and cases cited.) A person who has received an injury in consequence of passing through a wrong doorway in a part of the building not designed for the use of unattended

customers cannot recover unless he was induced to enter therein by the invitation or allurement of the proprietor. (38 Am. Jur. 796 and cases cited in note 15).” (Sic.)

See also *Trautloff v. Danver Mills*, (Mo. App.), 316 SW2d 866.

Plaintiff has cited and relied upon the Kansas cases of *Campbell v. Weathers*, 111 P 2d 72, and *Bass vs. Hunt*, 100 P 2d 696. However, both of those cases are readily distinguishable from the case at bar. In each case a state law required the operator of a restaurant to provide toilet facilities for the patrons. In each case the pathway provided for the patrons to the toilet was rendered hazardous by the presence of an open trap door. In both cases the path was dark and the hazard could not be readily observed. There was no question in either case as to the plaintiff following the proper and only course leading to the toilet facilities, whereas in the case at bar, there is no evidence of any danger whatsoever in the route actually leading to the toilet facilities actually provided by defendant. Here the plaintiff was not following a path indicated to him by the proprietor, but on the contrary was going in an entirely opposite direction in the fruitless search for the facilities he sought. Attention is also invited to the more recent Kansas case of *Thompson v. Beard and Gabelman, Inc.*, (Kan.), 216 P. 2d 798, where under facts analogous to those here, the Kansas Court followed the theory for which we here contend.

We have heretofore cited portions of the comment to Sec. 343 of the Restatement of Torts. Those portions of the comment quoted in appellant's brief are wholly inapplicable here. Comment *d* pertains to what a business visitor is entitled to expect *on that portion of the premises to which the invitation extends*. The portion of comment *b* quoted by plaintiff pertains to a situation where the possessor has "intentionally or negligently mis-led" the visitor into a reasonable belief that a particular passageway or door is an appropriate means of reaching the area which the visitor is invited to enter. There is no evidence in this case that defendant, either intentionally or negligently, did anything which would mislead a patron into believing that the swinging doors to the store-room led to the men's rest room.

The case of *Martin v. Jones*, (Ut.), 253 P 2d 359, cited and quoted by plaintiff, is not applicable to the instant case. In that case the plaintiff was admittedly trespassing. However, his presence in a position of potential danger was observed by one of defendant's employees. Although she, (the employee), was aware of the danger confronting plaintiff, she did not warn him of it. The case was decided under the principle set forth under Sec. 337 of the Restatement of Torts dealing with the duty of a possessor of land to a trespasser *where the possessor knows or should know of the trespasser's presence in dangerous proximity to an artificial dangerous condition and where the condition is of such a nature that the possessor would have reason to believe that the*

trespasser would not discover it or realize the risk involved therein. There is no evidence in this case that any employee of the defendant was aware that plaintiff had passed through the swinging doors or that he had attempted or would attempt to pass through the darkness of defendant's storeroom to the head of the stairs to the sump pump.

As previously noted in our Statement of Facts, there is no evidence that any patron of defendant had passed beyond the swinging doors leading to defendant's store-room prior to the accident here involved. The testimonies of McKinley, Nixon and Lemmon were all to the effect that whenever they observed anyone go through the swinging doors, such persons immediately recognized that such did not lead to the rest room and immediately turned around and came back. The only other person ever shown to have made the same mistake as plaintiff is Carl Gillies, whose affidavit appears at Page 16 of the record. By the terms of his own affidavit, his mistake occurred on the same night as plaintiff's. In the absence of any showing that other patrons had on prior occasions passed through the swinging doors and through the storage room to the area of the stairway leading to the sump room, there is no basis upon which a jury could find that defendant should have known of, or anticipated the presence of its patrons in that area.

The cases cited and relied upon by plaintiff under Point III of his brief are so different from the facts of

the case at bar as to be readily distinguishable. The case of *Hectus v. Chicago Transit Company*, (Ill. App.), 122 NE2d 587, arose out of a collision between one of defendant's buses with one of its patrons, who had dismounted from the bus. After dismounting, the plaintiff used a rest room situated inside a loop in defendant's track. The accident occurred as plaintiff was crossing the track to the outside of the loop after leaving the rest room. One of the issues was whether plaintiff was an invitee. Because there was substantial evidence that the rest room had been used by the defendant's patrons and others, the court held that it was jury question whether plaintiff was an invitee.

The case of *Palmer v. Boston Penny Savings Bank*, (Mass.), 17 NE2d 899, involved an erroneous choice of two similar doors. In that case plaintiff attempted to return to defendant's premises through the same door he entered. Upon finding it locked, he made a fairly careful attempt to find the correct door, before he finally mistakenly passed through the wrong one. The facts, as stated in the opinion of the Court, are as follows:

"The jury could find that the plaintiff with two companions, returned to the garage about 2 o'clock in the morning, February 11, 1933, and that, as they came along the middle of Waldo Street, there were no lights upon this private way or upon the outside of the garage. They tried to open the center door but were unable to do so. They then inspected this door to determine if it contained a smaller door through which a person

might pass. They did not find any such door. They looked through the glass in the center door and saw a dim light inside the garage. They rapped upon the door but none of the defendant's employees heard them, although one was busy in the stock room, a short distance away, checking figures. They then looked to see if there was another entrance to the garage. One of the plaintiff's friends walked to the right and opened the easterly door, and the plaintiff believing that he was then using the westerly door, stepped inside and almost immediately fell down the iron stairway."

The court in that case recognized the principle upon which defendant relies here:

"If the plaintiff was injured while upon a portion of the premises to which he was not induced to go by the defendant in the transaction of the business between them, then, while there, he could not demand the exercise of reasonable care toward him by the one in control and management of the locus."

The facts in the case at bar do not involve such a situation since there is no evidence that the door which plaintiff was seeking was in any way similar to the door through which he passed. Moreover, the door which plaintiff was seeking was in the opposite end of defendant's premises at a place where it could not be readily mistaken for the door through which plaintiff entered. Nor did plaintiff make any reasonable effort to locate the right door before passing through the wrong one.

In the case of *Montgomery v. Allis-Chalmers Manufacturing Co.*, (Tex.), 164 SW2d 556, the door through which plaintiff passed opened immediately from the display room onto a stairway. Thus, there was no opportunity for plaintiff to change her mind and correct her mistake after discovering her error. The basis for the Court's decision is found in the following language:

“The doctrine we think applicable to the situation presented, is announced in 38 Am. Jur. (subject, Negl.), p. 796, Sec. 135, as follows: ‘It is well settled that where a store, office building, or similar business establishment to which the public is impliedly invited has a door leading to a cellar, elevator shaft, or other dangerous place, which is left unfastened, and which, from its location and appearance, may be mistaken for a door which a member of the public on the premises is entitled to use, the proprietor is liable to a person, who, by mistake, passes through that door and is injured.’”

However, in the case at bar, the stairway down which plaintiff fell was not immediately adjacent to the swinging door. On the contrary, he had to grope his way through the darkness for a considerable distance before he came to the stairway. When he opened the swinging door and entered the dark room, that should have been sufficient notice to him that he was on the wrong track. However, he persisted, even after he should have discovered his error in following a pathway along which there was not the slightest indication of an invitation

to travel. The latter portion of the Am. Jur. statement quoted in the Montgomery case applies here:

“* * * However, a recovery is denied the injured person if the situation was such as to afford no reasonable ground for such a mistake. Moreover, a person who has received an injury in consequence of passing through a wrong doorway in a part of the building not designed for the use of unattended customers cannot recover unless he was induced to enter therein by the invitation or allurement of the keeper of the premises.”

POINT II

PLAINTIFF WAS GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

POINT III

PLAINTIFF ASSUMED THE RISK AS A MATTER OF LAW.

We here answer plaintiff's Point II.

A case quite similar on its facts to the case at bar is *Heidenreich v. Dumas*, (N.H.), 190 A. 705. In that case the plaintiff, a customer in defendant's restaurant where food and drink were dispensed, passed through a swinging door in the rear which gave access to a kitchen. From the kitchen the only other door opened upon a flight of stairs descending to the cellar. Plaintiff, desiring to go to the toilet and assuming that it was reached through the kitchen, passed through the kitchen in search of it. Al-

though there was at least one employee working in the kitchen, plaintiff made no inquiry for directions. He went to a door which was unmarked, but which he assumed led to the toilet. Upon opening the door he found darkness on the other side. Still without making inquiries as to a light or anything else, he stepped over the threshold and fell down the stairs into the cellar. On these facts the court held the plaintiff's motion for nonsuit should be granted and ordered judgment for the defendant.

In the case of *Thompson v. Beard and Gableman, Inc.*, (Kan.), 216 Pac. 2d, 798, the court said:

“Suffice it to say that plaintiff was traveling in a course she did not know; the door leading from the private office was partially closed and the light dim; on pushing the door inward she was standing at the entrance of a basement stairway, no bar or barrier about the steps, and was confronted with darkness which is always a signal of danger. The darkness or dimness of light called upon her to exercise greater caution for her own safety than is ordinarily required and *it was her duty under such circumstances to refrain from proceeding further without finding out where she might safely go*, and by this failure to exercise ordinary care for her safety, *she was guilty of negligence as a matter of law.*” (Emphasis ours.)

Another similar case is *Illinois Central Railway Company v. Sanderson*, (Ky.), 192 S.W. 869. The court there said:

“Passing the question whether the company which had provided a suitable toilet for men and

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